# Purdue University Purdue e-Pubs

**Open Access Theses** 

Theses and Dissertations

Winter 2015

# Propane dehydrogenation on single site gallium on silica catalyst

Shankali U. Pradhan *Purdue University*, shankalipradhan@purdue.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open\_access\_theses Part of the <u>Chemical Engineering Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Pradhan, Shankali U., "Propane dehydrogenation on single site gallium on silica catalyst" (2015). *Open Access Theses*. 596. https://docs.lib.purdue.edu/open\_access\_theses/596

This document has been made available through Purdue e-Pubs, a service of the Purdue University Libraries. Please contact epubs@purdue.edu for additional information.

Graduate School Form 30 Updated 1/15/2015

#### PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL Thesis/Dissertation Acceptance

This is to certify that the thesis/dissertation prepared

By Shankali U. Pradhan

Entitled

PROPANE DEHYDROGENATION ON SINGLE SITE GALLIUM ON SILICA CATALYST

For the degree of Master of Science in Chemical Engineering

Is approved by the final examining committee:

Fabio Ribeiro

Chair

Jeffrey T. Miller

Rajamani Gounder

To the best of my knowledge and as understood by the student in the Thesis/Dissertation Agreement, Publication Delay, and Certification Disclaimer (Graduate School Form 32), this thesis/dissertation adheres to the provisions of Purdue University's "Policy of Integrity in Research" and the use of copyright material.

Approved by Major Professor(s): Fabio Ribeiro

Approved by: <u>John Morgan</u>

2/19/2015

Head of the Departmental Graduate Program

Date

# PROPANE DEHYDROGENATION ON SINGLE SITE GALLIUM ON SILICA CATALYST

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

Purdue University

by

Shankali U. Pradhan

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

of

Master of Science in Chemical Engineering

May 2015

Purdue University

West Lafayette, Indiana

For my father who inspires me always

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My journey so far in Purdue has been an amazing one, full of adventures and has been possible due to the support and guidance of many people.

I would like to thank the two most important people in my life, my parents Mr. Ujwal C. Pradhan and Mrs. Deepa U. Pradhan for their tremendous support, sacrifice and blessings. I would like to thank my advisors Prof. Fabio H. Ribeiro and Prof. W. Nicholas Delgass for giving me the prestigious opportunity of working with them and for guiding me throughout my journey of two years. Prof. Ribeiro has enriched me by teaching me how to be a better experimentalist. I learnt from him the importance of critiquing my own data as well as data presented in the literature in order to avoid having incorrect understanding about the physics of the research problem. He gave me the opportunity of working with some of the finest instruments and machines to acquire the best possible data. Prof. Delgass has always been extremely encouraging and inspiring to me. Meetings with him would always leave me with plenty of ideas in my mind. His enthusiasm in teaching and catalysis has motivated me to aspire to be a Professor like him someday. I would like to thank Prof. Rajamani Gounder and Prof. Jeffrey Miller for being on my committee. Prof. Gounder has provided valuable suggestions during the Purdue Catalysis Center group meetings. Meetings with Prof. Jeffrey Miller have always been very encouraging. This project would not have been successful without his ideas and expertise.

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Adam Hock, Dr. Neil Schweitzer and Guanghui Zhang for the excellent collaboration and the ideas that helped me immensely in this project. I extend my acknowledgement to my funding agency – Qatar National Research Fund for providing financial support for the 'New Chemistries for the Catalytic Conversion of Natural Gas to Valuable Organics' project. I owe a big thanks to the Propane Dehydrogenation team in Purdue- Dr. Juan José Lovón-Quintana, Viktor Cybulskis and Han-Ting Tseng for the intense discussions and the great ideas that were suggested during the group meetings. Dr. Juan José Lovón-Quintana has been an important part of this project and has been a mentor to me. He has helped me develop skills such as being organized and meticulous in research and discussions with him always led to broadening of my thinking process. I would like to thank Dr. Dmitry Zemlyanov for performing X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy experiments presented in this work. I extend a special thanks to Dr. Yury Zvinevich for his expertise in instrumentation. He has always been very helpful in equipment troubleshooting and has been very prompt and efficient in solving instrument issues. I extend my gratitude to the past and current graduate students of Purdue Catalysis Center who introduced me to the lab and trained me on various instruments and also contributed to several discussions about my project – Dr. Dhairya Mehta, Dr. Sara Yohe, Harshavardhan Choudhari, Dr. Shane Bates, Atish Parekh, Dr. Kaiwalya Sabnis, Mike Detwiler, Dr. Anuj Verma, Viktor Cybulskis, Yanran Cui, Jamie Harris, Mike Cordon, Ravi Joshi and John Diiorio.

Friends at Purdue have made this journey worthwhile and full of adventure. They have been my support system here and have always made me feel at home while I was away from home. Dhairya Mehta, Harshavardhan Choudhari, Anand Venkatesan, Krishnaraj Sambath, Ranjita Ghose, Aniruddha Kelkar, Kaiwalya Sabnis, Maithili Deshpande, Anshu Gupta, Atish Parekh, Sumeet Thete, Ashish Vora, Chinmay Joglekar, Yanran Cui, Sampa Das and Paulami Majumdar – you guys are awesome and memories with you will always be cherished. My apartment mates Sampa Das and Paulami Majumdar have been extremely caring and comforting in times of distress and sickness. Our dinner table conversations and humor will always put a smile on my face. Coffee break fun times with Mike Detwiler, Yanran Cui, John Degenstein, Jamie Harris, Arthur Shih, Shane Bates and Ian Smith will be fondly remembered. I have thoroughly enjoyed the company of my office mates McKay Easton and Ishant Khurana with whom I had very entertaining and engrossing discussions about things like graduate life, science, music, books, food, cultures and so much more.

The staff at the Department of Chemical Engineering, Purdue has been extremely helpful throughout the two and a half years that I have spent at Purdue. I would like to thank Dr. Catherine Field, Cristina Farmus, Amy Hayden, Courtney Eddy, Karen Heide, Christa Jackson, Jason Davenport and Jeff Valley who have assisted me at various times. A special thanks to Deb Bowman who ensured that my moving process from India to Purdue was smooth as possible.

Finally, I want to thank my folks back in India who have provided me immense support at all times. My grandmother Mrs. Sudha Pradhan and my grandfather Mr. Chintaman Pradhan, to whom I am immensely grateful, have always made sure that I am eating well and taking care of myself. My mentors Prof. Ashwin Patwardhan and Prof. Anand

vi

Patwardhan have always supported me during my ups and downs and have been just one call away. I have always turned to them for sound advice.

Thank you all!

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# Page

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	xiii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	4
2.2. Catalyst pretreatment:	5
2.3. 4-hour H <sub>2</sub> reduction:	6
2.4. Catalyst regeneration:	6
2.5. Catalyst Characterization:	7
2.5.1. Surface Area measurement:	7
2.5.2. Thermogravimetric Analysis:	7
2.5.3. X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy (XAS):	8
2.5.4. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS):	9
2.5.5. In-situ Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy:	11
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS	13
3.1. Kinetics:	13
3.1.1. Catalyst stabilization:	13
3.1.2. Blank reactor rates:	14

# Page

3.1.3. Effect of catalyst pretreatment:	18
3.2. BET surface area and Thermo Gravimetric Analysis:	24
3.3. X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy:	24
3.4. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy:	34
3.5. In-situ FTIR spectroscopy:	45
3.5.1. <i>In- situ</i> H <sub>2</sub> reduction treatment:	45
3.5.2. In-situ Propane Dehydrogenation:	48
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION	55
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	58
BIBLIOGRAPHY	61
APPENDIX A	65
APPENDIX B	69

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 3. 1: Summary of results of propane dehydrogenation on 3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst at 550°C, 5% propane in inert	14
Table 3. 2: Comparison of results of propane dehydrogenation in empty reactor, $SiO_2$ and $Ga/SiO_2$ at 550°C, 5% propane in inert	16
Table 3. 3: Initial and final rates of propane dehydrogenation on Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst at 550°C, 5% propane in inert under different pretreatment conditions of the catalyst	20
Table 3. 4: Summary of <i>operando</i> XAS results for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst pretreated with $H_2$ at 550°C for 1 h during propane dehydrogenation at 550°C, 5% propane in inert	26
Table 3. 5: Summary of <i>operando</i> XAS results for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst pretreated with $H_2$ at 650°C for 1 h during propane dehydrogenation at 550°C, 5% propane in inert	27
Table 3. 6: EXAFS isolated first shell results during $H_2$ reduction at 650°C	30
Table 3. 7: XPS binding energy of electrons for elements detected in Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst	34
Table 3. 8: Quantification of elements in Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> from XPS peak fitting analysis	43
Table 4. 1: Initial rate of propane dehydrogenation (550°C, 5% propane in inert) of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> pretreated with H <sub>2</sub> at 650°C normalized to moles of Ga <sup>+3</sup>	56
Table A 1: Equilibrium Mole Ratios for propane dehydrogenation reaction	66

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1. 1: Average wholesale price of propane in 2013-2014 and 2014-20151
Figure 3. 1: Catalyst stabilization studies over 3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst at 5% propane concentration and temperature of 550°C
Figure 3. 2: Arrhenius plot comparison of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst with Empty Reactor and SiO <sub>2</sub> support
Figure 3. 3: Comparison of propane order on Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst for dehydrogenation and cracking reactions
Figure 3. 4: Comparison of stabilization following three different catalyst pretreatment conditions
Figure 3. 5: Comparison of propane dehydrogenation rate after 4 h reduction with the stabilized rate of catalyst under 5% propane concentration at a temperature of 550°C21
Figure 3. 6: Comparison of the initial stabilization curve of the catalyst with that after the reoxidation
Figure 3. 7: XANES pattern of 3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> after treatment with $H_2$ at 550°C for 1 h25
Figure 3. 8: XANES pattern of 3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> after reduction in H <sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 1 h27
Figure 3. 9: Ga K-edge XANES during $H_2$ treatment at 650°C and stability of the Ga <sup>+<math>\delta</math></sup> thereafter
Figure 3. 10: XPS high resolution scan of O1s region

Page
------

Figure 3. 11: XPS high resolution scan of O2s and Ga3d region for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with H <sub>2</sub> at room temperature
Figure 3. 12: XPS high resolution scan of Ga2p region for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with H <sub>2</sub> at room temperature
Figure 3. 13: XPS high resolution scan of Ga2p region for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with $H_2$ at 650°C
Figure 3. 14: XPS high resolution scan of Ga3d region for Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with $H_2$ at 650°C
Figure 3. 15: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2300 cm <sup>-1</sup> and 2125 cm <sup>-1</sup> in H <sub>2</sub> environment at different temperatures
Figure 3. 16: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2175 cm <sup>-1</sup> and 1600 cm <sup>-1</sup> in H <sub>2</sub> environment at different temperatures
Figure 3. 17: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2500 cm <sup>-1</sup> to1700 cm <sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures
Figure 3. 18: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 1610 cm <sup>-1</sup> to 1310 cm <sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures
Figure 3. 19: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2920 cm <sup>-1</sup> to 2850 cm <sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures
Figure 3. 20: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catalyst from 3010 cm <sup>-1</sup> to 2915 cm <sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures
Figure A 1: Variation of equilibrium constant with temperature for propane dehydrogenation reaction
Figure A 2: Equilibrium conversion variation with temperature for propane dehydrogenation reaction with 5% propane in feed

Figure	Page
Figure B 1: Process flow diagram for measurement of kinetics of propane	
dehydrogenation reaction	69

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BET	Brunauer - Emmett - Teller
Ср	Specific heat capacity at constant pressure
EXAFS	Extended X-ray absorption fine structure
FID	Flame ionization detector
FTIR	Fourier transformed infrared
GaAcAc	Gallium acetylacetonate
GC	Gas chromatograph
IR	Infrared
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
TCD	Thermal conductivity detector
TGA	Thermo gravimetric analysis
TPR	Temperature programmed reduction
WHSV	Weight hourly space velocity
XANES	X-ray absorption near edge spectroscopy
XAS	X-ray absorption spectroscopy

#### ABSTRACT

Pradhan, Shankali U. M.S.Ch.E., Purdue University, May 2015. Propane Dehydrogenation on Single Site Gallium on Silica Catalyst. Major Professors: Fabio H. Ribeiro and W. Nicholas Delgass.

Light alkane dehydrogenation is gaining increasing importance due to the discovery of shale gas. Gallium based catalysts such as Ga/HZSM-3 and Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> have been used to dehydrogenate propane to propylene. However, the exact nature of the active site for propane dehydrogenation on Gallium based catalysts is still debated in literature. This work is aimed at understanding the nature of active site in Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst for propane dehydrogenation. The Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst is active and selective for propane dehydrogenation reaction. It is shown that Ga<sup>+3</sup> site co-ordinated with four O atoms is the most active form of Gallium during the propane dehydrogenation reaction. The catalyst is subjected to different pretreatment conditions and it is observed that the pretreatment with  $H_2$  at 650°C results in lower initial rates for propane dehydrogenation. The Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst is studied using operando X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy, in-situ Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy and X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy. Reduction of the catalyst at 650°C resulted in the formation of a reduced Gallium species which results in lower rates of propane dehydrogenation. These reduced Gallium species were found to be unstable under conditions of propane dehydrogenation

and get reoxidized to  $Ga^{+3}$ . It is proposed that the reduced Gallium species has the form of Gallium hydride which is less active for propane dehydrogenation.

#### CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The recent exploration and discovery of shale formations has resulted in the production of surplus oil in the US. The import of oil in the US has significantly dropped and has resulted in a 25-year low which is reflected in the current oil prices<sup>1</sup>. The natural gas and light alkanes production has also significantly boosted along with the increased production of oil in the US due to the high natural gas content of shale. This has led to cheap excess of light alkanes like ethane and propane. Figure 1. 1 shows the average wholesale price of propane during the heating months (Oct- Apr) in the last two years. It can be seen that the price of propane has significantly decreased due to the discovery of shale reserves.



Figure 1. 1: Average wholesale price of propane in 2013-2014 and 2014-2015

The US chemical prices currently track oil and not natural gas. Hence, there is a vast interest in utilizing this cheap raw material of propane to manufacture valuable chemicals such as propylene. Propylene is an important building block of the chemical industry in that, it is the raw material for the manufacture of various products such as polypropylene, acrylonitrile, cumene, propylene oxide etc. A lot of emphasis has been put on the expansion of propane dehydrogenation to manufacture propylene. It is important to note that 8 new propane dehydrogenation plants have been announced to be set up in the US in the near future<sup>2</sup>. Most of the projects are based on either of the two existing processes for propane dehydrogenation – the OLEFLEX process which uses Pt-Sn/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> introduced by UOP and the CATOFIN process which uses Cr/Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> introduced by CB&I<sup>3</sup>. There is, however, a need for improving the processes in terms of the rates, selectivity and the stability of the catalysts.

Propane dehydrogenation is an endothermic reaction giving propylene and  $H_2$  as the products. The reaction can be represented as:

$$C_3H_8 \leftrightarrow C_3H_6 + H_2$$

Propane dehydrogenation is an equilibrium limited reaction<sup>3</sup>. The thermodynamics of the reaction as well as equilibrium conversion for 5% propane concentration are given in Appendix A. This reaction is often associated with side reactions which results in loss of carbon atoms to cracking and coking. The cracking reaction gives ethylene and methane as the products and can be represented as:

$$C_3H_8 \leftrightarrow C_2H_4 + CH_4$$

Hence, there is a need to selectively break the C-H bond vs the C-C bond of propane to minimize the loss of carbon to cracking reaction.

The propane dehydrogenation activity of bulk and supported Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> has been reported in the late 1980s particularly pertaining to the conversion of propane to aromatics. It has been reported that Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> has selectivity higher than 85% towards the C-H bond scission of propane vs the C-C bond scission<sup>3</sup>. The exact nature of the active site of Ga in supported Ga catalysts has been widely debated in the literature. Meitzner et al have studied the Ga/HZSM-5 catalyst and shown that the Ga is present in the reduced state under propane dehydrogenation conditions. They have shown that the reduced Ga in their catalyst is unstable and readily reoxidizes to  $Ga^{+3}$  on cooling in H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere<sup>4</sup>. Xu et al have shown that in the absence of oxidizing agent, the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> had low activity to propane dehydrogenation<sup>5</sup>. Biscardi et al have shown from their experiments that the C-H bond activation of propane occurs at similar rates on Ga/HZSM-5 and HZSM-5. However, the higher propane conversion observed for Ga/HZSM-5 occurs on the account of recombinative H<sub>2</sub> desorption aided by the Ga sites<sup>6</sup>. Hensen and co-workers have also studied the Ga/HZSM-5 catalyst for propane dehydrogenation and suggest that the propane is selectively converted over the monovalent Ga<sup>+</sup> cations as against the [GaH<sub>2</sub>]<sup>+</sup> species'. This study aims to study and understand the active site for propane dehydrogenation reaction in a simplified heterogeneous catalytic system with only single site Ga atoms dispersed over an amorphous SiO<sub>2</sub> support without the presence of Bronsted acid sites.

#### CHAPTER 2. EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

#### 2.1. Kinetics

Kinetics of propane dehydrogenation was measured using a plug flow quartz reactor of diameter 10 mm at atmospheric pressure. Appendix B shows the process flow diagram of the reactor system used for measurement. In order to measure blank reaction rates in empty reactor, a clean reactor was mounted in the furnace (ATS furnace 3210, 870 W, maximum temperature 1000°C) and connected to the feed gas inlet. The temperature was ramped to the reaction temperature using a Eurotherm 2408 temperature controller at the ramp rate of  $10^{\circ}$ C/min. The reaction mixture consisted of 5% propane (Matheson purity > 99.5%), 10% argon (Ultra High Purity, 99.999%) used as internal standard for gas chromatograph and balance helium (Ultra High Purity, 99.999%) to make up a total flow rate of 60 ml/min. The products were analyzed by a gas chromatograph Agilent GC 6890 equipped with a thermal conductivity detector (TCD) and a flame ionization detector (FID). Gaseous products detected from the reaction include propylene ( $C_3H_6$ ), hydrogen  $(H_2)$ , methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and ethylene (C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub>). Helium (He) was used as a carrier gas in the gas chromatograph instrument. The permanent gases such as hydrogen and argon were separated using a 2 ft Carboxen 1000 column connected to the TCD. The hydrocarbon gases were separated using 60 ft GS-GASPRO column connected to the FID.

300 mg of sieved catalyst (150  $\mu$ m < dp < 250  $\mu$ m) was loaded over a bed of quartz wool and quartz chips to measure the rate of propane dehydrogenation on the SiO<sub>2</sub> support and on the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. The catalyst was pretreated by flowing 75 ml/min of helium over the catalyst bed for 15 minutes at room temperature. The temperature was then ramped to 100°C and maintained for 15 minutes under helium flow. Following this, the temperature was ramped to 550°C and maintained at 550°C for 2 hours under helium flow. The temperature ramp rate used was 10°C/min. After the completion of the catalyst pretreatment, the reaction mixture was fed into the fixed bed reactor at 550°C. The conversion of the catalyst was allowed to stabilize under the reaction mixture for a period of 13 hours on stream at 550°C after which the catalyst had achieved steady rates for propane dehydrogenation.

#### 2.2. Catalyst pretreatment:

Three different pretreatment conditions were performed on the fresh catalyst before testing:

For the helium pretreatment, 75 ml/min helium was passed over the catalyst bed at room temperature for 15 minutes. The temperature was then ramped to 100°C and maintained at 100°C under helium flow for 15 minutes. Following this, the temperature was ramped to 550°C and maintained under helium flow for 2 hours. The temperature ramp rate used was 10°C/min.

For 1 hour  $H_2$  pretreatment of the catalyst at 550°C, 25 ml/min of  $H_2$  was passed over the catalyst bed at room temperature for 15 minutes. The temperature was then ramped to

550°C at the ramp rate of 10°C/min and maintained at 550°C under H<sub>2</sub> flow for 1 hour. Following this, the H<sub>2</sub> flow was cut off and the reactor was flushed with 50 ml/min of helium for 15 minutes to remove residual H<sub>2</sub> gas.

For 1 hour  $H_2$  pretreatment of the catalyst at 650°C, 25 ml/min of  $H_2$  gas was introduced into the reactor at room temperature for 15 minutes. The temperature was then ramped to 650°C at the ramp rate of 10°C/min and maintained at 650°C for 1 hour. Following this, the  $H_2$  flow was shut off and the reactor was flushed with 50 ml/min of helium for 15 minutes to remove residual  $H_2$  gas. The reactor was then cooled to 550°C under the flow of helium.

#### 2.3. 4-hour $H_2$ reduction:

After the catalyst was allowed to stabilize under the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture and achieve steady rates, the feed mixture was cut off and the reactor was flushed with helium for 15 minutes to remove the residual gases. H<sub>2</sub> was then introduced into the reactor at 550°C at a flow rate of 25 ml/min. The temperature was ramped to  $650^{\circ}$ C at the ramp rate of 10°C/min and maintained at  $650^{\circ}$ C for 4 hours under the flow of H<sub>2</sub> gas. After the 4 hour reduction treatment was completed, the H<sub>2</sub> flow was shut off and the reactor was flushed with helium and cooled to  $550^{\circ}$ C under the flow of helium. The propane dehydrogenation mixture was then introduced for further testing of the catalyst.

#### 2.4. Catalyst regeneration:

The catalyst was subjected to a room temperature reoxidation treatment following the 4 hour reduction treatment. For the room temperature reoxidation, the catalyst was cooled from the reaction temperature to room temperature under helium environment (50

ml/min) and was flushed with helium at room temperature for 15 minutes. The helium flow was then cut off and the catalyst was flushed with air (Commercial Grade) for 20 minutes. Following this, the air flow was stopped and the reactor was flushed with helium at room temperature for 15 minutes to remove residual air. The temperature was then ramped to 550°C in the presence of the flow of helium through the reactor. The reaction mixture was then introduced into the reactor to test the catalyst performance after the room temperature reoxidation treatment.

#### 2.5. Catalyst Characterization:

#### 2.5.1. Surface Area measurement:

The BET surface area of the catalyst was measured by ASAP 2020 unit using nitrogen adsorption isotherms. The sample heated to  $150^{\circ}$ C was degassed for 5 to 6 hours to remove any adsorbed contamination on the catalyst before measuring the BET surface area using N<sub>2</sub> adsorption.

#### 2.5.2. Thermogravimetric Analysis:

The Thermo Gravimetric Analysis (TGA) of the used sample was performed on the Thermo Gravimetric Analysis unit SDT Q600 (TA instruments) capable of analyzing two samples simultaneously. 20 mg of the used sample was placed in an  $Al_2O_3$  cup on the sample balance. 20 mg of fresh catalyst sample was placed in an  $Al_2O_3$  cup on the reference balance. The sample was flushed with 100 ml/min helium heated upto a temperature of 150°C under helium and maintained at that temperature for 15 minutes. This is to remove any moisture adsorbed on the catalyst. The catalyst is then cooled to  $30^{\circ}C$  and the flow is switched to air. The temperature is ramped under the flow of air

from 30°C to 700°C at the rate of 10°C/min. After the temperature equilibrated to 700°C, it was maintained at 700°C for 3 hours. The catalyst was then cooled to room temperature.

#### 2.5.3. X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy (XAS):

Operando XAS measurements were performed at the beamline of the Materials Research Collaborative Access Team (MRCAT, 10-ID) at the Advanced Photon Source at Argonne National Laboratory. The Ga K-edge was used to collect the spectra in transmission mode. The catalyst (~150 mg) was loaded in a quartz reactor (5 mm ID, 1 mm wall thickness) over a bed of quartz wool. Since the SiO<sub>2</sub> support and the quartz absorbs Xrays, it was essential to use a reactor with small diameter and wall thickness to minimize the attenuation of the X-Rays to the detector in order to obtain data with good signal to noise ratio. The sample was pretreated under the flow of pure  $H_2$  at 550°C and 650°C for 1 hour, cooled to room temperature under He and then heated to  $550^{\circ}$ C under the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture (5% propane, 10% Ar, bal He). The WHSV was maintained identical to that of the reaction studies. The products were analyzed using gas chromatograph Agilent GC 6890 equipped with a TCD and FID. The temperature dependent Debye-Waller factor was estimated by the difference of the XAS spectra collected at the reaction temperature  $(550^{\circ}C)$  and room temperature. The co-ordination number was assumed to be the same at both the temperatures. The  $Ga_2O_3$  and GaAcAcwere used as reference compounds for the XAS data. The reference data was collected simultaneously as the transmission data.

#### 2.5.4. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy (XPS):

The X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy measurements were performed in a Kratos Axis Ultra DLD spectrometer equipped with a monochromatic Al K-alpha source (1486.6 eV), magnetic immersion lens, hemispherical electron analyzer and a charge neutralization system. These provided high energy resolution and high sensitivity spectroscopic performance, allowing to achieve small surface areas of XPS analysis (diameter < 15 $\mu$ m). The system was operated at 75 W and 14.7 kV was applied across the anode. The high resolution XPS spectra were collected in a constant pass energy mode of 20 eV. The base pressure used for the collection of all the spectra was ~ 10<sup>-12</sup> bar.

The XPS spectra were obtained for  $Ga/SiO_2$  catalyst after different experimental conditions. First, the fresh catalyst was scanned at room temperature. The catalyst was then treated at 550°C in H<sub>2</sub> flow under atmospheric pressure for 1 hour in an ex-situ reactor and then transferred to the XPS chamber for scans without exposure to air. The catalyst was then transferred back to the ex-situ reactor, treated in H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 1 hour and scanned in XPS chamber. A second batch of fresh catalyst was crushed and pressed into the well and similar scans and treatment was performed for the pressed sample. XPS spectra for survey scans as well as high resolution scans for Ga3d, Ga2p, Si2p, O1s, O2s and C1s peaks were recorded.

The CasaXPS 2.3.14 software was used to deconvolute the spectra and perform quantification. The binding energy correction on all the spectra was calibrated to the Si2p

peak at 103.4 eV. The Shirley type background was used for all the peaks and the peaks were assumed to have a Gaussian-Lorentzian line shape.

The high resolution XPS scan for Ga3d peak showed two peaks at 21.03 eV and 19.65 eV binding energy. A sum Gaussian-Lorentzian line shape with m=30 was used to fit both the peaks. However, due to the poor signal to noise ratio of the peak, the Ga3d peaks were not used for quantification of the gallium content in the sample.

The Ga2p peaks are observed at around 1119 eV and 1117.5 eV. However, the low binding energy component for room temperature and 550°C H<sub>2</sub> treatment samples appeared to be completely inside the high binding energy component and thus can be treated as an attribute of the XPS fitting procedure being consistent for all scans and not a real peak. The binding energy of both the high and low binding energy components for all the samples has been reported. A sum Gaussian-Lorentzian line shape with m=30 was used to fit both the peaks. The relative sensitivity factors for both the peaks were taken to be 21.4 which is the standard value for Ga<sup>+3</sup>. The position of the two peaks is constrained to be at a binding energy distance of 1.38 eV which is the same as the binding energy distance between the 3d peaks. The Ga2p peaks were used for quantification of Ga due to the better signal to noise ratio. The O1s peak was also fitted with two component peaks. The Si2p peak was not used as reference as well as for quantification of the other elements.

#### 2.5.5. In-situ Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy:

The sample was studied using *in-situ* Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy under conditions of  $H_2$  reduction and propane dehydrogenation reaction to understand the nature of the adsorbed species on the surface of the catalyst. About 80 mg of sample was ground and pressed into a self-supporting wafer of diameter 20 mm and mounted inside a 1" quartz cell sealed with CaF<sub>2</sub> windows. The cell is housed inside a coiled heating rod (Ari heating cable, 20" long, 0.125" diameter, 1500W) surrounded by a ceramic block which is well insulated from the outside. The temperature of the cell was controlled by Eurotherm 2408 temperature controller and two thermocouples on either side of the wafer were used to read the temperature. The infrared spectra were recorded by Nicolet 4700 FTIR instrument and OMNIC software was used to save, view and process the spectra. All spectra were collected at 100°C, 200°C, 300°C, 400°C, 500°C, 550°C, 600°C and 650°C to observe variations in the sample with respect to temperature.

Empty cell backgrounds with inert and 5% propane in inert mixture were recorded. The sample wafer was then mounted inside the cell and sample spectra in inert gas flow (10% argon, balance helium) were recorded at the same temperatures as mentioned above. The sample was then exposed to  $H_2$  at room temperature and the temperature was ramped to 550°C. The sample was treated at 550°C with  $H_2$  for 1 hour and spectra were collected every 15 minutes. The sample was then heated to 650°C in  $H_2$  and treated at 650°C for 4 hours. The spectra were recorded every 15 minutes for 1 hour and then every 30 minutes. After the reduction treatment, the sample was cooled to room temperature in inert flow.

The sample was then exposed to the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture (5% propane, 10% argon, balance helium) at room temperature and the temperature was ramped to  $550^{\circ}$ C and the spectra were collected every 30 minutes for 2 hours. Following this, the sample was cooled to room temperature in inert and reheated to  $650^{\circ}$ C in H<sub>2</sub> and the reduction treatment at  $650^{\circ}$ C was performed for 4 hours. The sample was then cooled to  $550^{\circ}$ C in inert and exposed to the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture for 1 hour.

#### **CHAPTER 3. RESULTS**

### 3.1. Kinetics:

3.1.1. Catalyst stabilization:

The catalysts used for propane dehydrogenation are known to deactivate over time on stream<sup>8</sup>. A typical catalyst deactivation curve is shown in Figure 3. 1



Figure 3. 1: Catalyst stabilization studies over 3% Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst at 5% propane concentration and temperature of 550°C

It can be seen that the catalyst achieves stabilized rate after 13 hours on stream under propane dehydrogenation at 550°C. The Table 3. 1 summarizes the initial and stabilized rate of propane dehydrogenation, ratio of the dehydrogenation rate to cracking rate and the products selectivities.

Table 3. 1: Summary of results of propane dehydrogenation on 3% Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst at  $550^{\circ}$ C, 5% propane in inert

Initial Rate/ 10 <sup>-4</sup> mol propylene. mol Ga <sup>-1</sup> . s <sup>-1</sup>	$5.4 \pm 0.3$
Stabilized Rate/ 10 <sup>-4</sup> mol propylene. mol Ga <sup>-1</sup> . s <sup>-1</sup>	$2.7 \pm 0.1$
Dehydrogenation Rate: Cracking Rate	41 ± 3
Propylene Selectivity/ %	95
Ethylene Selectivity/ %	2.5
Methane Selectivity/ %	2.5

The stabilized rate of the catalyst is  $2.7 \pm 0.1 \cdot 10^{-4}$  mol propylene. mol Ga<sup>-1</sup>.s<sup>-1</sup>. The rate has been normalized to the total moles of gallium being the weight loading of 3wt% Ga. The catalyst deactivates to approximately 40% of its initial rate. The deactivation of the catalyst after stabilized rate is achieved is about 10%. The deactivation could be attributed to sintering or coking<sup>3</sup>.

#### 3.1.2. Blank reactor rates:

The blank reactor rates were measured in an empty reactor because the propane dehydrogenation reaction is known to occur in the gas phase in the absence of catalyst<sup>3</sup>.

Propane dehydrogenation reaction was also performed on the  $SiO_2$  support along with the quartz chips and quartz wool in order to test their activity towards the dehydrogenation or cracking reactions. The results are summarized in Table 3. 2. The apparent activation energy for the empty reactor,  $SiO_2$  support and  $Ga/SiO_2$  catalyst has been compared in Figure 3. 2



Figure 3. 2: Arrhenius plot comparison of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst with Empty Reactor and SiO<sub>2</sub>

support

Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> **Empty Reactor** SiO<sub>2</sub>  $242.2\pm0.9$  $241.1\pm0.4$  $86.5\pm1.8$ Apparent activation energy of propane dehydrogenation/ kJ.  $mol^{-1}$ Apparent activation  $253.8\pm0.4$  $259.3\pm2.9$  $195.3\pm5.8$ energy of propane cracking/ kJ. mol<sup>-1</sup> Selectivity of 40% 40% 95% propylene/ % Selectivity of 15% 15% 2.5% ethylene/ % Selectivity of 45% 45% 2.5% methane/ %

Table 3. 2: Comparison of results of propane dehydrogenation in empty reactor,  $SiO_2$  and  $Ga/SiO_2$  at 550°C, 5% propane in inert

It can be seen that the catalyst significantly decreases the apparent activation energy for the dehydrogenation reaction. It can be seen that the catalyst also decreases the apparent activation energy for the cracking reaction. However, the activation energy for the dehydrogenation reaction is significantly lower than the cracking reaction. The catalyst performs the function of more selective C-H vs C-C bond cleavage compared to the gas phase reaction as well as reaction on SiO<sub>2</sub> support.

The order of propane for the dehydrogenation reaction has been measured along with order for cracking reaction. The Figure 3. 3 shows the graphs for the propane order for both the reactions.



Figure 3. 3: Comparison of propane order on Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst for dehydrogenation and cracking reactions

The apparent propane order for the dehydrogenation reaction is equal to 0.8 and is equal to that of the cracking reaction. This would indicate that the first step for propane activation for both the reactions might be the same. The intermediate formed as a result of the propane activation on the catalyst could then undergo two separate pathways to give the dehydrogenation products and the cracking products.

#### 3.1.3. Effect of catalyst pretreatment:

It has been debated in the literature about the nature of the active Ga for the propane aromatization reaction. Meitzner et al have suggested that the reduced form of Ga is the active form of the catalyst for propane dehydrogenation followed by aromatization on Ga/HZSM-5 catalyst<sup>4</sup>. Rane and co-workers have suggested that Ga<sup>+</sup> cations are the active site for propane dehydrogenation in Ga/HZSM-5 and have suggested that  $[GaH_2]^+$  species formed during prereduction steps have lower activity for the propane dehydrogenation reaction<sup>9</sup>.

In order to test if this theory also applies to the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst, it was decided to follow three different pretreatment procedures for the catalyst before testing it for propane dehydrogenation reaction. A batch of catalyst was pretreated with helium at  $550^{\circ}$ C for 2 hours, a second batch was pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at  $550^{\circ}$ C for 1 hour and a third batch of catalyst was pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at  $650^{\circ}$ C for 1 hour. The stabilization curves are shown in Figure 3. 4 for comparison of the catalyst behavior after the three pretreatment conditions. The initial and final rates on the three samples are summarized in Table 3. 3.


Figure 3. 4: Comparison of stabilization following three different catalyst pretreatment

conditions

Pretreatment	Initial rate of	Final rate of
	dehydrogenation/ mol	dehydrogenation/ mol
	propylene. mol Ga <sup>-1</sup> .	propylene. mol Ga <sup>-1</sup> .
	s <sup>-1</sup>	$s^{-1}$
Helium for 2 h at	5.4 · 10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.8 · 10 <sup>-4</sup>
550°C		
H <sub>2</sub> for 1 h at 550°C	5.1 · 10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.8 · 10 <sup>-4</sup>
$H_2$ for 1 h at 650°C	3.7 10-4	2.7 10-4

Table 3. 3: Initial and final rates of propane dehydrogenation on Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst at 550°C, 5% propane in inert under different pretreatment conditions of the catalyst

It can be seen that the catalyst samples pretreated with helium or  $H_2$  at 550°C shows the same initial rates whereas the sample pretreated at 650°C with  $H_2$  for 1 hour shows a lower initial rate for propane dehydrogenation by about 1.4 times than the samples treated with  $H_2$  or helium at 550°C. This indicates that the effect of the reduction treatment at 650°C is to transform the Ga into an inactive or a less active form. The final rate of all the samples was equal irrespective of the pretreatment performed.

To verify the effect of the reduction treatment on the stabilized rate of the catalyst, a catalyst sample was subjected to the 4 hour reduction treatment at 650°C as described in Section 2.3. It was observed that the rate of the catalyst after prolonged reduction treatment was 2.5 times lower than the stabilized rate of the catalyst before the treatment. For the latter, the rate of propane dehydrogenation was  $1.1 \pm 0.1^{-1} 10^{-4}$  mol. mol Ga<sup>-1</sup>.s<sup>-1</sup>.

Figure 3. 5 shows the comparison of the catalyst rates during the stabilization and after the 4 hour reduction treatment. This experiment confirms that the catalyst becomes less active after the reduction treatment and this indicates that the reduced form of Ga is less active or inactive for propane dehydrogenation.



Figure 3. 5: Comparison of propane dehydrogenation rate after 4 h reduction with the stabilized rate of catalyst under 5% propane concentration at a temperature of 550°C

Following this, to observe if the reduction treatment may result in permanent damage of the gallium active sites for the propane dehydrogenation reaction, the catalyst was oxidized with air flow at room temperature. The purpose of the catalyst reoxidation at room temperature was separate the effect of reoxidation of the gallium sites from the convolution of combustion of the coke deposited on the catalyst surface. The initial rate of propane dehydrogenation on the catalyst at 550°C, after reoxidation treatment at room temperature, was higher than the initial rate obtained on fresh catalyst. This is an interesting observation that the catalyst can be reactivated in oxidizing atmosphere at room temperature after prolonged reduction treatment and this has not been reported in the literature. Figure 3. 6 shows the graph of the catalyst during initial stabilization followed by the room temperature reoxidation.



Figure 3. 6: Comparison of the initial stabilization curve of the catalyst with that after the reoxidation

The stabilized steady state rate of the reoxidized catalyst is the same as the stabilized rate of the fresh 3% Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst indicating that the reduction treatment does not diminish the catalyst performance permanently. This indicates that the reduced Ga can be reversibly reoxidized after exposure to air at room temperature. This reoxidized Ga is similar to  $Ga^{+3}$  in the fresh catalyst in terms of its final rates for propane dehydrogenation. However, the initial rate of the catalyst after the reoxidation is higher than that of the fresh catalyst which might indicate a different mechanism of the deactivation of the reoxidized catalyst. The initial rate of the catalyst after the room

temperature reoxidation treatment decreases to the stabilized rate after a period of  $\sim 13$  hours on stream.

#### 3.2. BET surface area and Thermo Gravimetric Analysis:

The BET surface area of the catalyst was measured to be about 295  $m^2/g$ .

The mass of coke per mass of dry catalyst calculated from the TGA was found to be 0.012. Hence, the total coke formed on the catalyst from the TGA analysis would be about 7 mg. If one assumes a coverage of  $10^{15}$  atoms. cm<sup>-2</sup> of carbon, then it would account for covering 20% of the BET surface area of the catalyst. However, the catalyst deactivation from the initial rate was shown to be about 40%. Since the metal site for performing dehydrogenation is Ga and the SiO<sub>2</sub> support was shown to be inactive for the reaction, it would be reasonable to say that the coke would cover the Ga sites and this would explain the deactivation<sup>3</sup>. However, we do not have the data showing the number of single site Ga before and after the reaction and hence, sintering of the catalyst cannot be ruled out as the cause of deactivation of the catalyst.

### 3.3. X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy:

In order to understand the difference in the reaction rates and to correlate to the oxidation state and the co-ordination number of the gallium in the catalyst, X-Ray Absorption spectroscopy experiments were performed under *operando* conditions. It was observed in the XANES region that the Ga remains in the +3 oxidation state throughout the run when the catalyst is pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C, when compared to the Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and GaAcAc references for the Ga<sup>+3</sup> as shown in Figure 3. 7.



Figure 3. 7: XANES pattern of 3% Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> after treatment with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C for 1 h

At these experimental conditions, the EXAFS data shows that Ga remains 4 co-ordinate throughout the run and the Ga in the catalyst is present in a tetrahedral geometry. The EXAFS isolated first shell data shows that there is only Ga-O co-ordination and no Ga-Ga co-ordination. The EXAFS isolated first shell results also indicate that the Ga-O bond distance remains constant throughout the run at 1.80 Å. This indicates that the active site for the propane dehydrogenation reaction would be a 4 co-ordinate Ga<sup>+3</sup> site. The results are summarized in Table 3. 4.

Comula	Doto/mol	t/h	N	D /Å	_2
Sample	Rate/ mor	U II	IN	K <sub>Ga-O</sub> /A	0
	C II mol				
	$C_3 \Pi_6$ . IIIOI				
	$Ga^{-1}$ s <sup>-1</sup>				
	Ua . s				
3% Ga/SiO2	_	0	$4 12 \pm 0.01$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
570 00/0102		Ū	$1.12 \pm 0.01$	1.00 ± 0.01	0.000
under PDH					
550°C					
	$6.61  imes 10^{-4}$	0.5	$4.07 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
	$6.25 \times 10^{-4}$	1	$4.01 \pm 0.01$	$1.80\pm0.01$	0.006
	$6.42 \times 10^{-4}$	1.5	$4.10\pm0.04$	$1.80\pm0.01$	0.006
	$6.46 \times 10^{-4}$	2	$4.04\pm0.04$	$1.80\pm0.01$	0.006
	4				
	$6.62 \times 10^{-4}$	2.5	$3.91 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub>		3	$4.03 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
1					
under He					
550 <sup>0</sup> C					
550°C					

Table 3. 4: Summary of *operando* XAS results for Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C for 1 h during propane dehydrogenation at 550°C, 5% propane in inert

For the catalyst pretreated with  $H_2$  at 650°C for 1 hour, the XANES region exhibited the formation of a shoulder at around 10,370 eV as shown in Figure 3. 8 when compared to  $Ga^{+3}$  catalyst which was treated at 550°C for 1 h.



Figure 3. 8: XANES pattern of 3% Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> after reduction in H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 1 h

This shoulder at ~10,370 eV has been assigned to the lower oxidation state of the gallium  $Ga^{+\delta}$  ( $\delta < 3$ ) after the reduction of  $Ga^{+3}$ <sup>4</sup>. The XANES region shows that post reduction pretreatment, both  $Ga^{+3}$  and  $Ga^{+\delta}$  are present in the sample. During the course of the reaction, the  $Ga^{+\delta}$  decreases and there is a corresponding increase in the  $Ga^{+3}$  in the sample. The Ga in the sample is initially 2.7 co-ordinate and appears to increase the co-ordination throughout the run as the  $Ga^{+\delta}$  decreases and the  $Ga^{+3}$  increases as shown in Table 3. 5.

Table 3. 5: Summary of *operando* XAS results for Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 1 h during propane dehydrogenation at 550°C, 5% propane in inert

Sample	Rate/ mol	t/ h	N	R <sub>Ga-O</sub> /Å	$\sigma^2$
	C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> . mol				

	$Ga^{-1}. s^{-1}$				
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub>	$5.49 \times 10^{-4}$	0	$2.66 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
under PDH					
550°C					
	$7.40 \times 10^{-4}$	0.5	$2.72 \pm 0.04$	$1.79 \pm 0.01$	0.006
	$4.56 \times 10^{-4}$	1	$2.96\pm0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
	$9.06 \times 10^{-5}$	1.5	$3.21 \pm 0.04$	$1.80\pm0.01$	0.006

The sample pretreated with  $H_2$  at 550°C was exposed to the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture for 3.0 hours whereas the sample pretreated with  $H_2$  at 650°C was exposed to the reaction mixture for 1.5 hours. The sample treated at 550°C showed stable rates of propane dehydrogenation whereas the sample treated at 650°C showed decreasing dehydrogenation rates with respect to time on stream. The propylene selectivity in both the cases was > 95%. The initial rates were observed to be the same in both the samples.

Since the rates studies performed previously indicated that the final rate of the catalyst pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C is same as that pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C, it was essential to study the stability of the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species formed as a result of the reduction pretreatment at 650°C. Figure 3. 9 shows the normalized absorbance of the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species during the reduction treatment at 650°C and after the reduction treatment.



Figure 3. 9: Ga K-edge XANES during H<sub>2</sub> treatment at 650°C and stability of the Ga<sup> $+\delta$ </sup>

### thereafter

It can be seen that the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> increases with the reduction time. As the catalyst was cooled under He post reduction to room temperature and back to the reaction temperature to account for the Debye-Waller factor, the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species decreased during the cooling to room temperature and then increased while heating to 550°C in propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture. The decrease can be attributed to thermal effects. There is a slight total decrease of Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species before the start of the propane dehydrogenation reaction at 550°C compared to the post reduction sample under He at 550°C. Thus it can be seen that the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species remain fairly stable when cooled under helium to room temperature and heated back to the reaction temperature under He. The co-ordination number of the Ga in the catalyst also remains stable to a value of about 2.7 and the Ga-O bond distance also remains stable at 1.8 Å as shown in Table 3. 6.

Sample	N	R <sub>Ga-O</sub> /Å	σ²
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> under H <sub>2</sub> 650 °C, t = 0.5	$2.69 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.0065
h			
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> under H <sub>2</sub> 650 °C, t = 1 h	$2.52\pm0.04$	$1.79 \pm 0.01$	0.0065
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> post H <sub>2</sub> 650 °C, under He	$2.63 \pm 0.04$	$1.79 \pm 0.01$	0.006
550 °C			
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> post H <sub>2</sub> 650 °C, under He	$2.64\pm0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.004
RT			
3% Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> post H <sub>2</sub> 650 °C, under	$2.66 \pm 0.04$	$1.80 \pm 0.01$	0.006
PDH 550 °C, $t = 0 h$			

Table 3. 6: EXAFS isolated first shell results during H<sub>2</sub> reduction at 650°C

According to Meitzner et al, the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species are formed at 507°C under the flow of H<sub>2</sub> or propane<sup>4</sup>. They have also observed that the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> species are unstable since cooling under H<sub>2</sub> resulted in the reoxidation of the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> to Ga<sup>+3</sup> which the authors claim is stabilized by the zeolite framework O atoms. The observations presented by the authors are in contradiction of the results presented in this work. This may be because the catalyst that they have tested is Ga/HZSM-5 which has Bronsted acid sites that are not found in the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. It may be possible that the effect of the presence of Bronsted acid sites is to aid the associative desorption of H<sub>2</sub> from the catalyst surface thereby oxidizing the Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> back to Ga<sup>+3</sup>.

Meitner et al have performed *in-situ* XAS studies on Ga/HZSM-5 catalyst under various conditions of reduction and propane dehydrogenation followed by aromatization. They have reported that the reduction performed at 507°C results in the formation of Ga metal first and as reduction progresses, results in the formation of steady state  $GaH_x$  species. The authors claim that the  $GaH_x$  species should have Ga in the reduced form and have mentioned in the paper that the oxidation state is between 0 and 1. In a separately performed temperature programmed reduction experiment, the authors have observed that the consumption of H<sub>2</sub> during the TPR is consistent with the decrease in the oxidation state of the Ga from +3 to +1. Since the edge measurements of their XAS data show that there is no  $Ga^{+3}$  present in the sample suggest that the  $Ga^{+\delta}$  is in fact present in a hydride form stabilized by interactions with the framework O atoms of the HZSM-5 zeolite. The observed co-ordination number of the Ga decreases from 6 (octahedral  $Ga^{+3}$ ) to 1 during the reduction treatment at 500°C. This reduction of Ga however, does not occur at room temperature as shown by their XAS as well as H<sub>2</sub> chemisorption results as a function of temperature. The authors have claimed that the active state of Ga in the Ga/HZSM-5 catalysts during propane dehydrogenation/aromatization is  $Ga^{+\delta}$ . According to the authors, these Ga sites cause the recombinative desorption of the hydrogens in the propane dehydrogenation/ aromatization reactions which causes the Ga to follow a redox cycle<sup>4</sup>.

Rane and co-workers have synthesized a Ga/HZSM-5 catalyst using a synthesis route that involves vapor phase deposition of tri-methyl gallium (TMG) over HZSM-5 support followed by removal of the methyl ligands by reduction under  $H_2$  flow at 550°C. They

claim that the resulting catalyst has a mixture of  $[GaH_2]^+$  and  $Ga^+$  species which charge balance the framework O atoms of the zeolite and by their IR studies observed that the zeolite has no Bronsted acid sites. The authors have performed *in-situ* XAS studies in which they have reduced the TMG/HZSM-5 sample under H<sub>2</sub> at different temperatures  $(150^{\circ}C \text{ to } 520^{\circ}C)$ . They observe that the absorption maximum of Ga shifts to a higher energy which is attributed to the formation of  $[GaH_2]^+$  species. At temperatures higher than 400°C, a shoulder is observed with a maximum at 10371.5 eV which the authors have attributed to the presence of Ga<sup>+</sup> which they claim is formed as a result of decomposition of the hydride. On cooling of the sample under H<sub>2</sub>, the authors observe a decrease in the shoulder and they have assigned this behavior to the oxidative addition of the  $H_2$  to the  $Ga^+$  to form  $[GaH_2]^+$ . This behavior was also observed by Meitzner et al who have assigned this behavior to the increased interaction of the Ga species with the framework O atoms. The authors have tested the reduced TMG/HZSM-5 catalyst for propane dehydrogenation reaction and have observed that the conversion of the reduced catalyst samples at 550°C increases with time. They propose that this observation indicates the slow decomposition of  $[GaH_2]^+$  species formed during the reduction of Ga into Ga<sup>+</sup> cations and that the Ga<sup>+</sup> cations are the active site for propane dehydrogenation reaction. However, no evidence of the state of gallium under propane dehydrogenation conditions has been presented<sup>9</sup>.

Hensen et al have described the procedure for the synthesis of TMG/ZSM5 catalyst used in the study by Rane and co-workers<sup>7</sup>. They have studied the removal of the ligands using *in-situ* XAS and have observed that for the as synthesized catalyst, the Ga is co-ordinated

with two C atoms and one O atom. Their studies on *in-situ* IR spectroscopy show that the catalyst has no Bronsted acid sites<sup>9</sup>. This means that monovalent methyl gallium species have charge substituted the zeolite. On reduction, it was observed that methane is generated and a pre-edge feature at lower absorption energy is observed in their XANES spectra. We observe a similar pre-edge feature at lower energy after the reduction of the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. The authors have attributed the shift that they have observed to formation of Ga<sup>+</sup> cations. The authors have already shown that it is unlikely to form  $[GaH_2]^+$  species<sup>10</sup>. However, they have not commented on their EXAFS results for the Ga-O co-ordination for the reduced samples. Frash and Van Santen in their earlier findings had proposed that the ethane activation during ethane dehydrogenation occur on  $[GaH_2]^+$  species based on first principles calculation<sup>11</sup>. However, they have revised their results to show that  $[GaH_2]^+$  is unstable and decompose to  $Ga^+$ . From their  $H_2/D_2$  switch experiments, the authors have concluded that the GaO<sup>+</sup> species are more likely to activate  $H_2$  than the Ga<sup>+</sup> species. Based on this, the authors have surmised that the rate of alkane activation on Ga<sup>+</sup> is small because of the weak interaction of Ga<sup>+</sup> with hydrocarbon molecules that they  $expect^7$ .

This study indicates that the result of the reduction treatment at  $650^{\circ}$ C is the formation of a low co-ordinate Ga<sup>+δ</sup>. This species is stable for the time period of the measurements performed at the synchrotron source. However, the results in this work show that after keeping the catalyst at 550°C under inert overnight results in rates that are similar to Ga<sup>+3</sup>. This might suggest that the Ga<sup>+δ</sup> species formed might not be stable at 550°C under inert for long period of time. Due to the absence of a reference compound for oxidation states of Ga lower than +3, it was not possible to quantify the amount of  $Ga^{+\delta}$  or the relative ratio of  $Ga^{+3}$ : $Ga^{+\delta}$  or identify  $\delta$ . However, it is possible that  $\delta$  is +3 but the Ga is bonded to H atoms and is 3 co-ordinate with O atoms of the silica surface.

# 3.4. X-Ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy:

Table 3. 7 lists the binding energies for the detected elements on the  $Ga/SiO_2$  catalyst surface after different treatment conditions described in Section 2.5.4. The peak fitting procedures are described in Section 2.5.4.

Table 3. 7: X	KPS binding energ	y of electrons	for elements	detected in	Ga/SiO <sub>2</sub> catal	yst
	<u> </u>					-

Peak	As-is sample binding energy/ eV			Pressed sample binding energy/ eV		
	Room	550°C	650°C	Room	550°C	650°C
	Temperature	under H <sub>2</sub>	under H <sub>2</sub>	temperature	under H <sub>2</sub>	under H <sub>2</sub>
Ga2p	1118.8	1119.0	1119.0	1118.4	1119.0	1119.1
(HBE)						
Ga2p	1117.4	1117.6	1117.6	1117.0	1117.6	1117.8
(LBE)						
O1s	533.9	533.9	533.9	533.9	533.9	533.9
(HBE)						
O1s (LBE)	532.5	532.5	532.5	532.2	532.5	532.6
O2s	25.3	25.4	25.2	25.3	25.4	25.0
Ga3d	21.0	21.0	21.0	21.0	21.0	21.0
(HBE)						

Ga3d	19.7	19.7	19.7	19.7	19.7	19.7
(LBE)						
Si2p	103.3	103.4	103.3	103.3	103.4	103.4

All the XPS spectra were calibrated to Si2p region which was fixed at a value of 103.4 eV binding energy. A slight variation in the binding energy of the Si2p can be seen which arises out of fitting component peak within the Si2p region. In order to remove the complications of sample charging and reference energy, the binding energy difference of various peaks were compared to the literature values. The O1s peak observed in this work at binding energy of 532.5 eV maintains a difference of 429.1 eV with respect to the Si2p peak at 103.4 eV. This difference is close to that reported in the literature which is 429.4 eV for Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst and Ga<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/HZSM-5 and is also typical of values for SiO<sub>2</sub><sup>12,13,14</sup>. A small component peak can also be found for the O1s at a binding energy of 533.9 eV as shown in Figure 3. 10.



Figure 3. 10: XPS high resolution scan of O1s region

It was noted that this binding energy does not correspond to O1s peak of any possible surface  $Ga_2O_3$  because the O1s of surface  $Ga_2O_3$  is expected to be at about 531 eV<sup>12,15,16</sup>. Hence, this peak can be assigned to the bridging oxygen atom in the SiO<sub>2</sub> support<sup>17</sup>. The binding energy difference between the O1s low binding energy peak and the O2s peak is about 507.3 eV and matched with the literature values<sup>13,12</sup>. The assignment of other peaks was made based on the comparison with literature values of the difference in the binding energy of the peak and the Si2p peak. Comparison was also made of the difference in binding energy of a given peak and the O1s peak with the literature values and it yielded

similar results. All comparisons with literature matched within a binding energy of  $\pm 0.5$  eV or less.

In regard to this, the Ga2p peak at 1119 eV was assigned to  $Ga^{+3}$  <sup>12,16,18</sup>. Similarly, the Ga3d peak at 21 eV has been assigned to  $Ga^{+3}$  <sup>13,18,19</sup>. Figure 3. 11 and Figure 3. 12 show the two peaks for  $Ga^{+3}$  in the Ga2p and the Ga3d region.



Figure 3. 11: XPS high resolution scan of O2s and Ga3d region for Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with  $H_2$  at room temperature



Figure 3. 12: XPS high resolution scan of Ga2p region for Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with  $H_2$  at room temperature

The Ga3d region overlaps with the O2s region as shown in Figure 3. 11. The low binding energy component peak for the Ga fits appears as a result of the peak fitting procedures as described in Section 2.5.4. Hence, for the sample that was not subjected to any reduction treatments, all the Ga was present in the +3 oxidation state as also confirmed by our XAS results.

It was observed in the Ga2p region, that a second peak forms at a binding energy of 1117.5 eV after reduction treatment at 650°C as seen in Figure 3. 13. This peak has been assigned to Ga<sup>+ $\delta$ </sup> where 0 <  $\delta$  < 3 <sup>12,18,19</sup>. This peak is more pronounced in the Ga3d

region which is observed at a binding energy of 19.6 eV as shown in Figure 3. 14 and can similarly be assigned to  $Ga^{+\delta}$ , where  $0 < \delta < 3^{13,18,19}$ . However, due to the low signal to noise ratio, this peak was not used for quantification. It has been much debated in the literature about the value of  $\delta$ .



Figure 3. 13: XPS high resolution scan of Ga2p region for Ga/SiO2 catalyst treated with

 $H_2$  at  $650^{\circ}C$ 



Figure 3. 14: XPS high resolution scan of Ga3d region for Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst treated with  $H_2$  at 650°C

Collins and co-workers have performed reduction treatments on  $Ga_2O_3/SiO_2$  catalyst and characterized the catalyst using XPS. They have looked at the Ga3d region in the XPS spectra and they observe two shoulders for the Ga3d core level signal which are overlapped with the O2s signal. They have assigned the low binding energy component of Ga3d to a reduced form of Ga. From their Temperature Programmed Reduction (TPR) experiments, they have shown that some of the Ga<sup>+3</sup> are reduced under the similar treatment conditions. Although the authors have not provided evidence that disproves the formation of Ga<sup>0</sup> or presented additional characterization to conclude the oxidation state

of the Ga in the reduced catalyst or the stoichiometry of the H<sub>2</sub> consumed in the TPR experiments, they have proposed that  $0 < \delta < 2^{-13}$ .

Carli and Bianchi have studied the reaction between  $Ga_2O_3$  and metallic Ga at 773-823 K using XPS measurements. They have reported the formation of a new peak in the Ga3d region, the binding energy of which lies in between the binding energy of  $Ga^0$  and  $Ga^{+3}$  in  $Ga_2O_3$ . They have assigned this new peak to  $Ga^{+1}$  in  $Ga_2O$  formed as a result of a disproportionation reaction that they claim to occur between  $Ga_2O_3$  and metallic Ga. However, they have clearly mentioned in their paper that they have not provided any evidence to conclude the oxidation state of the new Ga species formed and this hypothesis is required to be tested in the future <sup>20</sup>.

Carli et al have also performed reduction studies on  $Ga_2O_3$  deposited on HZSM-5 catalyst and characterized the samples using XPS <sup>21</sup>. A comparison of the XPS spectrum of the Ga3d region of the reduced and the unreduced catalyst revealed the formation of a new Ga3d peak for the reduced sample. They have assigned this new peak to  $Ga^{+1}$  using a reference compound which they claim to be  $Ga_2O$ , synthesized using methods mentioned in the literature <sup>22</sup>. However, the authors have not characterized the reference compound to confirm that it was indeed  $Ga_2O$ . No other characterization techniques have been used in their paper to deduce the oxidation state of the Ga in the reduced catalyst sample. Nevertheless, it is reasonable to conclude that they had formed a new species of Ga after the reduction of the catalyst and one possibility is that the oxidation state of this new species is less than 3. Kanazirev and co-workers have also performed reduction treatments on the  $Ga_2O_3$ /HZSM-5 catalyst and studied the catalyst using XPS <sup>12</sup>. They have also observed the formation of a new peak in the Ga3d region after the reduction treatment of the catalyst. They have compared the binding energy of the peaks observed in the Ga3d region to the literature and have assigned the high binding energy peak to  $Ga^{+3}$  and the low binding energy peak to a Ga species having oxidation state between +3 and +1. Here as well, the authors have not presented any evidence that corroborates beyond doubt that the new Ga species formed after the reduction of the sample indeed has an oxidation state between +3 and +1.

Seykh et al have performed reduction treatments on  $Ga_2O_3/HZSM-5$  and  $Ga_2O_3/SiO_2$  catalysts and have characterized the samples using XPS<sup>18,19</sup>. They have also observed the formation of an additional low binding energy Ga peak in the Ga3d region of the reduced samples. They have cited the papers by Carli et al to compare the binding energy values to literature and have also proposed that the low binding energy peak can be assigned to  $Ga^{+1}$ . The authors argue that the binding energy of this new peak formed is lower than the binding energy for  $Ga^{+3}$  but higher than the binding energy of metallic Ga and hence, they have assigned this peak to  $Ga^{+1}$  cations formed from the reduction treatment. However, the authors have not reported any other evidence that could confirm the oxidation state of the Ga in the reduced catalyst samples.

Hence, it would be difficult to conclude about the oxidation state of the reduced Ga species since the true nature of these species have been debated in the literature and no conclusive evidence using XPS have been presented until now. It could be possible that

these new Ga species have an oxidation state lower than +3. It is known from our XAS results that the average Ga-O co-ordination number decreases after the reduction treatment. Hence, it could also be possible that the reduction treatment results in the formation of Ga<sup>+3</sup> species bonded to H co-ordinated to three O atoms. As H is lower in electronegativity compared to O, it is possible that the binding energy of this species decreases and these species could be reflected in the low binding energy peak of the XPS spectrum. However, this conclusion cannot be made for certain based on the available data.

Based on these fits for the XPS data, quantification was made for the elemental composition of the sample which was scanned in pressed as well as as-is conditions described in Section 2.5.4. This has been summarized in Table 3. 8.

Species	As-is sample atomic %			Pressed sample atomic %		
	Room	550°C	650°C	Room	550°C	650°C
	Temperature	under H <sub>2</sub>	under H <sub>2</sub>	temperature	under H <sub>2</sub>	under H <sub>2</sub>
Ga <sup>+3</sup>	1.5	1.1	1.0	1.4	0.8	0.9
$\mathrm{Ga}^{+\delta}$	0.1	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.3
O (HBE)	7.6	6.4	4.2	3.6	4.6	8.1
O (LBE)	58.5	63.8	60.7	62.8	57.5	57.0
Total O	66.0	70.2	64.9	66.3	62.2	65.2
Si	32.4	28.6	33.0	32.1	36.8	33.7

Table 3. 8: Quantification of elements in Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> from XPS peak fitting analysis

Si:O	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5
$\operatorname{Ga}^{+\delta}$ : $\operatorname{Ga}^{+3}$	0.1	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.3	0.3
Total Ga	1.6	1.2	2.1	1.6	1.1	1.2

It can be seen that the atomic % ratio of Si to O is 1:2 which is expected for SiO<sub>2</sub>. It can also be observed that the total gallium content for the untreated samples is same for the pressed and the as-is sample. This indicates that the total gallium is distributed uniformly in the SiO<sub>2</sub> support and the surface concentration is equal to the bulk concentration. However, more evidence is required to conclude this beyond doubt. The data for the pressed and the as-is catalyst  $650^{\circ}$ C reduced samples do not show the same total gallium content. It is not clear yet whether this effect arises because the variation is within the error of measurement or whether it is a real effect.

It can be seen that the ratio of the atomic % of the  $Ga^{+\delta}$  to  $Ga^{+3}$  progressively increases as the reduction temperature increases. Thus is expected since with higher reduction temperatures, we expect more Ga to be reduced.

It can be observed that the binding energy of the Ga2p peak for the as is sample increases by 0.2 eV as the temperature of H<sub>2</sub> treatment increases from room temperature to  $650^{\circ}$ C. This is accompanied by progressive increase in the atomic % of Ga. A possible explanation for this is that the reduction treatment causes a decrease in the co-ordination number of the Ga as corroborated by the XAS results. A decrease in the co-ordination number causes an increase in the binding energy and this can explain why there is a shift in the binding energy of the Ga2p peak. Serykh et al have reported the observation of an increase in the atomic % of Ga after their reduction treatment. They have suggested that the reduction treatment causes some of the Ga to reduce to metallic form<sup>18</sup>. They have proposed that this Ga metal rises to the surface and sinters to form particles of Ga on the surface which results in a total increase in the atomic % of Ga in their observed XPS spectra. For the pressed sample there is a higher shift in the binding energy of about 0.7 eV. However, there is no significant change in the atomic %. Since the effect of crushing the particles on the chemistry of gallium on the SiO<sub>2</sub> support is not known for certain it would be difficult to comment on this result. As mentioned previously, it is possible that this effect is not real and is merely resulted from the error in the measurement.

### 3.5. In-situ FTIR spectroscopy:

### 3.5.1. *In- situ* H<sub>2</sub> reduction treatment:

The spectra of the sample in inert was subtracted from the spectra of the sample in  $H_2$  to simplify the analysis and to avoid the deconvolution of the results with the clean wafer peaks. Figure 3. 15 shows the region between wavenumbers 2300 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2125 cm<sup>-1</sup>.



Figure 3. 15: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2300 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2125 cm<sup>-1</sup> in  $H_2$ environment at different temperatures

It can be seen that as the temperature increases, a peak at 2270 cm<sup>-1</sup> starts forming at a temperature of 500°C and higher. This peak becomes intense at a temperature of around 650°C. This peak can be attributed to the formation of Si-H bonds in the SiO<sub>2</sub>. It was shown by Hosono et al that SiO<sub>2</sub> when subjected to high temperature reduction treatment (600°C– 1000°C) results in the formation of Si-H bonds<sup>23</sup>. The author has claimed that the SiO<sub>2</sub> glass contains several Si-Si linkages and reduction treatment results in the breaking of the Si-Si bond to form Si-H bond. The frequency of the Si-H bond reported by the author is 2260 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The peak observed at 2270 cm<sup>-1</sup> in this work can be assigned to the formation of the Si-H bonds in the catalyst. A shoulder to the peak at a wavenumber of about 2200 cm<sup>-1</sup> starts forming at a temperature of 650°C. This peak can also be attributed to the formation of Si-H on the surface of the catalyst as a result of the



Figure 3. 16: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2175 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1600 cm<sup>-1</sup> in  $H_2$ environment at different temperatures

The IR spectra between wavenumbers 2175 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1600 cm<sup>-1</sup> in Figure 3. 16 show the presence of three intense peaks at wavenumbers 2038 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 1915 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1800 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The peak observed at 2038 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been reported to correspond to the Ga-H bond stretching vibration<sup>25,26</sup>. It can be seen that as the temperature is increased from room temperature to 650°C, the intensity of this peak decreases. This peak, however, does not disappear and is present at all temperatures from room temperature to 650°C. The region between wavenumbers 2010 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1950 cm<sup>-1</sup> shows the formation of a broad peak.

This peak is formed only at 650°C and is not formed at 550°C in H<sub>2</sub> flow. This region has been attributed to the formation of several different types of Ga-H species such as Ga-H bond formed on tetrahedral Ga (2003 cm<sup>-1</sup>) and octahedral Ga (1980 cm<sup>-1</sup>) <sup>27</sup>. Since our XAS results suggest that most of the Ga was present as tetrahedral Ga, we would expect a higher contribution of the peak at wavenumber 2003 cm<sup>-1</sup> to the broad peak observed between 2010 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1950 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

## 3.5.2. In-situ Propane Dehydrogenation:

Figure 3. 17 shows the peaks formed in the region from 2500 cm<sup>-1</sup> to1700 cm<sup>-1</sup> during exposure of the catalyst to propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture and heated from  $150^{\circ}$ C to  $550^{\circ}$ C.



Wavenumber/ cm<sup>-1</sup>

Figure 3. 17: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2500 cm<sup>-1</sup> to1700 cm<sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures

The peaks observed at 2335 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2365 cm<sup>-1</sup> are due to the presence of  $CO_2$  in the path of the IR beam. The peak present at 2270 cm<sup>-1</sup> which has been attributed to the formation of the Si-H bond decreases in the presence of the propane dehydrogenation mixture as the temperature is increased to 550°C from room temperature. Simultaneously, the peak associated with the Ga-H bond at 2038 cm<sup>-1</sup> also decreases significantly in intensity. It was also observed that the peaks present at 1915 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 1800 cm<sup>-1</sup> also decrease in intensity as the temperature is increased to 550°C. It has been reported in the literature that the vinyl hydrocarbon compounds have vibration overtones in the region from 1850 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1800 cm<sup>-124</sup>.

Figure 3. 18, Figure 3. 19 and Figure 3. 20 show the region from 1610 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1310 cm<sup>-1</sup>, 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2850 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 3010 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2915 cm<sup>-1</sup>.



Figure 3. 18: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 1610 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1310 cm<sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures



Figure 3. 19: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2850 cm<sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures



Figure 3. 20: FTIR spectra of Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst from 3010 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2915 cm<sup>-1</sup> in 5% propane in inert at different temperatures

The two peaks observed at 2900 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2905 cm<sup>-1</sup> are convoluted into one broad peak. It is possible that there are more peaks under this broad peak which would be clear only after deconvolution of the broad peak. The peak at 2900 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been attributed to symmetric stretch of the CH<sub>3</sub>-Ga bond and the peak at 2905 cm<sup>-1</sup> has been attributed to the presence of Ga-OH species<sup>24</sup>. The peaks at 2890 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2874 cm<sup>-1</sup> can be associated with many possible peaks and it was not possible to conclude the type of species associated with this band with the existing data. Acylic CH is reported to have C-H stretching vibrations from 2890 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2880 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Aliphatic CH<sub>3</sub> fragment is also

reported in the literature to have C-H stretching symmetric vibrations from 2890 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2865 cm<sup>-1 24</sup>. This peak could also be observed due to the presence of CH<sub>3</sub> attached to an unsaturated hydrocarbon fragment since the symmetric C-H stretching of the CH<sub>3</sub> group is reported to be observed from 2945 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2880 cm<sup>-1</sup> <sup>24</sup>. The intensity of this peak decreases as the temperature of the catalyst is increased in the flow of the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture. The peak observed at 2874 cm<sup>-1</sup> also decreases in intensity as the temperature is increased. This peak could correspond to the CH<sub>2</sub>-Ga symmetric stretch which is reported to be observed at  $2877 \text{ cm}^{-126}$ . The peak observed in Figure 3. 20 at wavenumber 2961 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2967 cm<sup>-1</sup> can be assigned to CH<sub>3</sub>-Ga antisymmetric stretching<sup>26</sup>. It was observed that this peak increases in intensity as the temperature is increased from 150°C to 300°C. On heating in the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture beyond 300°C, this peak decreases in intensity. The peak at 2985 cm<sup>-1</sup> can be assigned to several different possible species on the catalyst surface. The  $CH_3$  group attached to unsaturated hydrocarbons except acetylene is reported to have an asymmetric stretch vibration in the range of 2995 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2905 cm<sup>-1</sup>  $^{24}$ . The CH<sub>3</sub> group attached to aliphatic hydrocarbons is also reported to have an asymmetric stretch in the range of 2975 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 2950 cm<sup>-1 24</sup>. The asymmetric CH<sub>3</sub> stretch of the CH<sub>3</sub> group attached to an aromatic ring also lies in the general region from 3005 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2965 cm<sup>-1</sup> <sup>24</sup>. However, it cannot be concluded for certain whether this species indeed exists on the catalyst surface since the Gas Chromatograph data does not detect the presence of Toluene or Xylenes in the exit product stream. It could be possible that all or some of these species could exist on the catalyst surface resulting in the convolution of their peaks into one broad peak observed at ~ 2985  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ . The region from

2955 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 2920 cm<sup>-1</sup> shows the presence of some peaks which could be due to the presence of many different species on the surface such as acyclic CH<sub>2</sub> group (2940-2915 cm<sup>-1</sup> asymmetric stretch), CH<sub>3</sub> attached to an aromatic ring (3000-2935 cm<sup>-1</sup> asymmetric stretch) or CH<sub>3</sub> attached to an unsaturated hydrocarbon molecule (2995-2905 cm<sup>-1</sup> asymmetric CH<sub>3</sub> stretching, 2945-2880 cm<sup>-1</sup> symmetric CH<sub>3</sub> stretching) <sup>24</sup>. Figure 3. 18 shows several peaks observed in the region from 1610 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1310 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The alkane C-H deformation vibrations and the deformation vibrations of the CH<sub>3</sub> group attached to unsaturated hydrocarbons are reported to lie in the general range of 1480 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1320 cm<sup>-1 24</sup>. All of the peaks observed in the figure are seen to decrease in intensity as the temperature increases.
### CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

From the kinetic studies, it is evident that H<sub>2</sub> treatment at 550°C did not alter the activity of the catalyst in any way. However, the H<sub>2</sub> treatment of the catalyst at 650°C results in the formation of a less active Ga species. When the catalyst is subjected to the  $H_2$ treatment at 550°C, it was observed using XAS that the Ga is 4 co-ordinate with neighboring O atoms and is in the +3 oxidation state when turning over for propane dehydrogenation reaction. This indicates that the 4 co-ordinate Ga<sup>+3</sup> is the active site for propane dehydrogenation. Reduction of the catalyst with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C results in the formation of a new Ga species as indicated by formation of a low energy pre edge feature. From our XPS results it is also clear that the reduction treatment does result in the formation of a new Ga species. However, whether this species is Ga  $^{\!+\!\delta}$  ( $\!\delta<3\!$ ) or a  $Ga^{+3}$  in the hydride form is not known for certain. As mentioned in Section 3.1.3., the initial rate of propane dehydrogenation normalized to the total moles of Ga for the samples treated with  $H_2$  at 650°C is 3.7 . 10<sup>-4</sup> mol propylene. mol total Ga<sup>-1</sup>. s<sup>-1</sup>. Table 4. 1 shows the initial rate of propane dehydrogenation of the sample pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C for 1 h normalized to the moles of Ga<sup>+3</sup> which is obtained from XPS under this condition. treatment

Table 4. 1: Initial rate of propane dehydrogenation (550°C, 5% propane in inert) of  $Ga/SiO_2$  pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C normalized to moles of  $Ga^{+3}$ 

Catalyst sample treated with H <sub>2</sub> at	Initial rate of propane dehydrogenation/ mol	
650°C for 1 h	propylene. (mol $Ga^{+3}$ ) <sup>-1</sup> . s <sup>-1</sup>	
As-is sample	$5.4 \cdot 10^{-4}$	
Pressed sample	$5.0 \cdot 10^{-4}$	

As mentioned in Section 3.1.3., the initial rate of propane dehydrogenation for the sample treated with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C is 5.4  $\cdot$  10<sup>-4</sup> mol propylene. mol total Ga<sup>-1</sup>. s<sup>-1</sup>. From our XAS results, it is known that the catalyst under these conditions has Ga in the +3 oxidation state and co-ordinated to four O atoms. This analysis shows that when the initial rate of propane dehydrogenation of the sample treated with  $H_2$  at 650°C for 1 h is normalized to the total moles of  $Ga^{+3}$ , the rate matches with the rate of the fresh catalyst sample. This is thus an additional evidence to show that the active site for propane dehydrogenation on single site Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst is Ga<sup>+3</sup> and not the reduced Ga species. The *in-situ* IR spectroscopy data shows the presence of the band at 2038 cm<sup>-1</sup> which has been assigned to the Ga-H bond. The role of the Ga-H species responsible for this peak in the propane dehydrogenation reaction is not clear. Reduction at 650°C with H<sub>2</sub> shows the formation of additional broad peak in the region of 2010 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1950 cm<sup>-1</sup>. This peak has been assigned to the formation of several different types of Ga-H species, one of them being tetrahedral Ga-H. From our XAS results, it is clear that the Ga<sup>+3</sup> in the catalyst is terahedrally co-ordinated to the O atoms of the SiO<sub>2</sub>. Hence, it is hypothesized that the

reduction of the catalyst at 650°C results in the formation of a tetrahedral Ga-H species which is not formed during the reduction treatment at 550°C and this species is not active for propane dehydrogenation reaction. It was also observed in the IR spectra in Figure 3. 17 that the peak in the region of 2010 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1950 cm<sup>-1</sup> decreases in intensity with time as the catalyst is exposed to the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture. This is in agreement with our XANES results which show the decrease in the intensity of the shoulder assigned to reduced Ga species as the reaction proceeds with a simultaneous increase in the intensity of the Ga<sup>+3</sup> peak. This is also in congruence with the results from the plug flow kinetic studies described in Section 3.1.3 which suggest that the final rate of propane dehydrogenation in the sample pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C is equal to that of the sample pretreated with H<sub>2</sub> at 550°C. This suggests that the reduced Ga species is unstable in the presence of propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture at 550°C and get reoxidized to Ga<sup>+3</sup>.

## CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

The Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst is active and selective for propane dehydrogenation reaction. The active site for the reaction was shown to be  $Ga^{+3}$  co-ordinated to four O atoms of the SiO<sub>2</sub> support. Treatment of the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst with H<sub>2</sub> at 650°C results in the formation of a reduced Ga species. The reduced Ga species results in lower rates of propane dehydrogenation reaction and are unstable in the presence of the propane dehydrogenation reaction mixture as they get reoxidized to Ga<sup>+3</sup> with time on stream. The exact nature of the reduced Ga species is not known for certain. It is known that the reduced Ga species is bonded to three O atoms and to H atoms. The number of H atoms bonded to the Ga is not known. Hence, for future experimentation, it is suggested to perform a temperature programmed reduction (TPR) for the catalyst and measure the moles of H<sub>2</sub> consumed which will help in understanding the number of H atoms attached to the Ga. This will help in a better interpretation of the existing characterization data.

It is also suggested to perform the  $H_2/D_2$  switching for *in-situ* IR experiments. This will help in understanding the nature of the various Ga-H species observed in the wavenumber range of 2010 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1950 cm<sup>-1</sup> and at 2038 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

In this work, we have not provided evidence to show that the Ga sites are monoatomically dispersed. Although the XAS data does not show the presence of Ga-Ga co-ordination or Ga-O-Ga co-ordination, more evidence is needed to conclude that the Ga in the catalyst is indeed single site. Schweitzer et al have studied single site  $Zn/SiO_2$  catalyst for propane dehydrogenation and propylene hydrogenation. They have used pyridine to poison the Lewis acidic  $Zn^{+2}$  sites on the catalyst and have shown a linear trend of the propylene hydrogenation rate normalized to the total moles of  $Zn^{+2}$  with the poison equivalents with slope = 1. This shows that all the  $Zn^{+2}$  sites in the catalyst are similar in nature. This result combined with their XAS results shows that the  $Zn^{+2}$  is monoatomically dispersed on the SiO<sub>2</sub> surface. Similar studies can be performed on the Ga/SiO<sub>2</sub> catalyst to show that the Ga sites are monoatomically dispersed on the SiO<sub>2</sub> support<sup>28</sup>.

A pyridine chemisorption experiment on the catalyst is needed to show that the Ga<sup>+3</sup> is a Lewis acid site. This experiment will also help in quantifying the Ga sites that are Lewis acidic in nature. The results can be combined with Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy to find out the % of Lewis acidic Ga sites. These results can be further used to understand the mechanism of the C-H vs C-C bond scission of the propane which results in high selectivity for the dehydrogenation reaction as against the cracking reaction.

In this study, we have also not checked the kinetic results for mass and heat transfer limitations. A part of the future work of the project would be to perform the Koros-Novak test to ensure that the results are free of transfer limitations.

The room temperature reoxidation of the catalyst after the 4 hour reduction treatment with  $H_2$  at 650°C has also not been studied further in this work. It would be interesting to pursue this study by observing the changes to the Ga<sup>+3</sup> sites under these conditions by using techniques such as *in-situ* XAS and IR spectroscopy.

It has been shown in the literature that Pd-Ga is able to selectively hydrogenate the triple bond of alkane to a double bond. Pd is shown to form an intermetallic alloy with Ga and surrounded with  $Ga_2O_3^{29,30}$ . The authors have claimed that the reason for the selective hydrogenation of acetylene to ethylene is a combination of electronic effects and geometric effects between Pd and Ga. It is claimed that Ga modifies the Fermi level of Pd and also causes isolation of the Pd atoms by decreasing the Pd-Pd co-ordination which is responsible for the high activity and selective hydrogenation of acetylene to ethylene. It would be expected that the catalyst is a good potential candidate for propane dehydrogenation and it will be interesting to understand the synergistic effects between Ga and Pd. BIBLIOGRAPHY

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Kever, J., Changing global oil landscape means shrinking OPEC role, *Houston Chronicle*, A1-A11, May 15, 2013
- Chang, J., US shale gas boom and its impact on the global petrochemical industry, ICIS Chemical Business, May 27, 2014
- Sattler, J. J. H. B., Ruiz-Martinez, J., Santillan-Jimenez, E. & Weckhuysen, B. M., Catalytic Dehydrogenation of Light Alkanes on Metals and Metal Oxides, *Chem. Rev.* 114, 10613–10653 (2014).
- Meitzner, G. D., Iglesia, E., Baumgartner, J. E. & Huang, E. S., The Chemical State of Gallium in Working Alkane Dehydrocyclodimerization Catalysts: *In situ* Gallium K-Edge X-Ray Absorption Spectroscopy, *J. Catal.* 140, 209–225 (1993).
- Xu, B., Zheng, B., Hua, W., Yue, Y. & Gao, Z., Support effect in dehydrogenation of propane in the presence of CO<sub>2</sub> over supported gallium oxide catalysts, *J. Catal.* 239, 470–477 (2006).
- 6. Biscardi, J. A. & Iglesia, E., Structure and function of metal cations in light alkane reactions catalyzed by modified H-ZSM5, *Catal. Today* **31**, 207–231 (1996).

- Hensen, E. J. M., Garcia-Sanchez, M., Rane, N., Magusin, P., Liu, P., Chao, K. & Van Santen, R. A., *In situ* Ga K edge XANES study of the activation of Ga/ZSM-5 prepared by chemical vapor deposition of trimethylgallium, *Catal. Lett.* 101, 79–85 (2005).
- Zheng, B., Hua, W., Yue, Y. & Gao, Z., Dehydrogenation of propane to propene over different polymorphs of gallium oxide, *J. Catal.* 232, 143–151 (2005).
- Rane, N., Overweg, A. R., Kazansky, V. B., Van Santen, R. A. & Hensen, E. J. M. Characterization and reactivity of Ga+ and GaO+ cations in zeolite ZSM-5, *J. Catal.* 239, 478–485 (2006).
- Kazansky, V. B., Subbotina, I. R., Van Santen, R. A. & Hensen, E. J. M., DRIFTS study of the chemical state of modifying gallium ions in reduced Ga/ZSM-5 prepared by impregnation: I. Observation of gallium hydrides and application of CO adsorption as a molecular probe for reduced gallium ions, *J. Catal.* 227, 263–269 (2004).
- Frash, M. V. & Van Santen, R. A., Activation of Small Alkanes in Ga-Exchanged Zeolites: A Quantum Chemical Study of Ethane Dehydrogenation, *J. Phys. Chem. A* 104, 2468–2475 (2000).
- Kanazirev, V., Price, G. L. & Tyuliev, G., XPS study on the effect of hydrogen treatment on the state of gallium in Ga2O3/HZSM-5 mechanically mixed catalysts, *Zeolites* 12, 846–850 (1992).
- Collins, S. E., Baltanás, M. A., Garcia Fierro, J. L. & Bonivardi, A. L., Gallium– Hydrogen Bond Formation on Gallium and Gallium–Palladium Silica-Supported Catalysts, *J. Catal.* 211, 252–264 (2002).

- Wagner, C. D., Chemical shifts of Auger lines and the Auger parameter, *Faraday Discuss. Chem. Soc.* 60, 291 (1975).
- Battistoni, C., Dormann, J. L., Fiorani, D., Paparazzo, E. & Viticoli, S., An XPS and Mössbauer study of the electronic properties of ZnCr<sub>x</sub>Ga<sub>2-x</sub>O<sub>4</sub> spinel solid solutions., *Solid State Commun.* **39**, 581–585 (1981).
- Schön, G., Auger and direct electron spectra in X-ray photoelectron studies of zinc, zinc oxide, gallium and gallium oxide, *J. Electron Spectrosc. Relat. Phenom.* 2, 75–86 (1973).
- Onyiriuka, E. C., Zinc phosphate glass surfaces studied by XPS, *J. Non-Cryst. Solids* 163, 268–273 (1993).
- Serykh, A. I. & Amiridis, M. D., *In situ* X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy study of gallium-modified MFI zeolite, *Surf. Sci.* 603, 2037–2041 (2009).
- Serykh, A. I. & Amiridis, M. D., *In-situ* X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy study of supported gallium oxide, *Surf. Sci.* 604, 1002–1005 (2010).
- 20. Carli, R. & Bianchi, C. L., XPS analysis of gallium oxides, *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **74**, 99–102 (1994).
- 21. Carli, R., Bianchi, C. L., Giannantonio, R. & Ragaini, V., Low temperature reduction of gallium in a Ga2O3/HZSM-5 catalyst, *J. Mol. Catal.* **83**, 379–389 (1993).
- 22. Brukl, A. & Ortner, G., Die Oxyde des Galliums, Z. Für Anorg. Allg. Chem. 203, 23–25 (1931).
- 23. Hosono, H., Abe, Y., Imagawa, H., Imai, H. & Arai, K., Experimental evidence for the Si-Si bond model of the 7.6-eV band in SiO<sub>2</sub> glass, *Phys. Rev. B* 44, 12043–12045 (1991).

- 24. Socrates, G., Infrared and Raman Characteristic Group Frequencies: Tables and Charts. (John Wiley & Sons, 2004).
- 25. Serykh, A. I., On the formation of surface gallium hydride species in supported gallium catalysts, *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **259**, 252–255 (2012).
- Rodrigues, V. & Faro Júnior, A. C., On catalyst activation and reaction mechanisms in propane aromatization on Ga/HZSM5 catalysts, *Appl. Catal. Gen.* 435–436, 68–77 (2012).
- Collins, S. E., Baltanás, M. A. & Bonivardi, A. L., Hydrogen Chemisorption on Gallium Oxide Polymorphs, *Langmuir* 21, 962–970 (2004).
- 28. Schweitzer, N. M., Bo, H., Das, U., Kim, H., Greeley, J., Curtiss, L., Stair, P., Miller, J. T., Hock, A. S., Propylene Hydrogenation and Propane Dehydrogenation by a Single-Site Zn<sup>2+</sup> on Silica Catalyst, *ACS Catal.* 4, 1091–1098 (2014).
- 29. Osswald, J., Kovnir, K., Armbruster, M., Giedigkeit, R., Jentoft, R. E., Wild, U., Grin, Y., Schlogl, R., Palladium–gallium intermetallic compounds for the selective hydrogenation of acetylene: Part II: Surface characterization and catalytic performance, *J. Catal.* 258, 219–227 (2008).
- Armbrüster, M., Kovnir, K., Behrens, M., Teschner, D., Grin, Y., Schlogl, R., Pd–Ga Intermetallic Compounds as Highly Selective Semihydrogenation Catalysts, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 132, 14745–14747 (2010).

APPENDICES

### APPENDIX A

It is known that the propane dehydrogenation is an equilibrium limited reaction. Hence, it becomes necessary to calculate the equilibrium conversion of propane to ensure that we operate far from equilibrium to measure the true forward rate of the reaction. The reaction under consideration was:

$$C_3H_8 \leftrightarrow C_3H_6 + H_2$$

The values for standard enthalpy of formation were obtained from the NIST database. The values for standard entropy of formation were obtained from Perry's Chemical Engineering Handbook. The variation of specific heat (Cp) with temperature has also been incorporated in the calculations. The values for Cp at different temperatures were obtained from the NIST database for both propane and propene. The resulting integrals were solved numerically using MathCad 15 software.

Calculation of equilibrium constant for propane dehydrogenation reaction:

$$C_3H_8 \leftrightarrow H_2 + C_3H_6$$

Solving the governing equations, we get a graph Keq with temperature as shown in Figure A 1:



Figure A 1: Variation of equilibrium constant with temperature for propane dehydrogenation reaction

Now, consider the reaction:

$$P \leftrightarrow N + H$$

Table A 1: Equilibrium Mole Ratios for propane dehydrogenation reaction

Component	Propane (P)	Propene (N)	Hydrogen (H)
Initial moles/s	n	0	0
Equilibrium moles/s	n-x	Х	Х
Equilibrium mole ratios	(n-x)/(n+x)	x/(n+x)	x/(n+x)

$$K_{eq} = rac{P_N imes P_H}{P_P} atm$$

$$K_{eq} = \frac{\left(\frac{x}{n-x}\right) \times P \times \left(\frac{x}{n-x}\right) \times P}{\left(\frac{n-x}{n+x}\right) \times P} atm$$

$$K_{eq} = \frac{x^2 \times P}{(n-x) \times (n+x)} atm$$

$$K_{eq} = \frac{x^2 \times P}{(n^2 - x^2)} atm$$

$$P = 1 atm$$

n = initial moles/s of propanen - x = equilibrium moles/s of propane

equilibrium conversion of propane = 
$$c = \frac{x}{n}$$

Using this, we calculate the equilibrium concentration of propane and thus the equilibrium % conversion of propane. The equilibrium curve for the reaction is thus obtained as:



Figure A 2: Equilibrium conversion variation with temperature for propane dehydrogenation reaction with 5% propane in feed

From this graph we can see that the equilibrium conversion of propane is  $\sim 30\%$  at  $550^{\circ}$ C

# APPENDIX B



Figure B 1: Process flow diagram for measurement of kinetics of propane dehydrogenation reaction